ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Circuit Court

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2011-GS-38-01561 - 01563  
Case No. 2013-GS-38-00287  
Appellate Case No. 2013-000784

---

RECEIVED  
JUN 24 2014  
SC Court of Appeals

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent,

v.

Richard Lanard Sprinkle,.....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Tina Cundari, S.C. Bar No. 71951  
Alexander E. Davis, S.C. Bar No. 100061  
SOWELL GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE LLC  
1310 Gadsden Street  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803) 929-1400  
[tcundari@sowellgray.com](mailto:tcundari@sowellgray.com)

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in admitting identification evidence that was unreliable and unduly suggestive?
- II. Did the trial court err in limiting the cross examination of Sean Echols, one of the perpetrators of the crime and a witness for the State?
- III. Did the trial court err in denying the motion for directed verdict and motion for new trial when the evidence did not support the conviction?
- IV. Did the trial court err in failing to charge the lesser-included offense of assault and battery in the second degree?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a verdict finding Richard Lanard Sprinkle guilty of one count of burglary, two counts of armed robbery, and one count of assault and battery in the first degree. (R. pp. 331-333.) Sprinkle was sentenced to 35 years in prison for burglary, 30 years for the two counts of armed robbery, and 10 years for assault and battery in the first degree. (R. p. 330; pp. 346-349.)

Sprinkle was arrested on June 29, 2011, and indicted on October 1, 2012, for two counts of armed robbery, two counts of attempted murder, and burglary in the first degree. (R. p. 5; pp. 350-360.) On January 30, 2013, Sprinkle was indicted for first degree burglary. (R. p. 359.)

The case was tried before a jury in Orangeburg County on April 9 and 10, 2013, nearly two years after Sprinkle was arrested. The jury found Sprinkle guilty of first degree burglary, two counts of armed robbery, and one count of first degree assault and battery. (R. pp. 331-333.) The jury found Sprinkle not guilty as to attempted murder and not guilty as to assault and battery of one of the victims.

This appeal follows.

## FACTS

This case involves a crime that occurred in a gambling house in Orangeburg on the early morning hours of June 26, 2011. The victims were James Wright and Robert Rumph. Wright and Rumph lived together. (R. p. 106, lines 20-24.) Rumph makes his money playing cards and gambling. (R. p. 153, lines 19-20.) On the night of the crime,

there had been a card game at the house. (R. pp. 154-155.) Wright, who is 74 years old, drank a “half of a half a pint” of liquor.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 115, lines 20-21; p. 130, lines 5-18.)

According to Wright, he and Rumph were sleeping when there was a knock at the door. The person asked if “Uncle Rocky,” meaning Rumph, was home. (R. p. 107, lines 11-12; p. 117; p. 119, lines 12-18.) The person said he wanted to use the phone. (R. p. 107, lines 11-12). Wright looked out the window to see who was there. Wright said he could see the faces of the men from the city streetlight. (R. p. 130, lines 22-24.) He testified that he went to the back bedroom to tell Rumph that someone was at the door asking for him. Rumph said to let them in. (R. p. 119, lines 13-14.) Wright opened the door and the men came inside. It was dark inside and Wright did not turn on the lights. (R. p. 16, lines 16-19; p. 22, lines 2-4; p. 130, lines 19-22.) Once inside, one of the men immediately hit Wright on the head with a pistol and demanded money. (R. p. 109, line 25 – p. 110, line 8; p. 119, lines 18-24.)

The other man went to Rumph’s room. Rumph testified that a “black guy with long dreads on his hair” came into his room and demanded money. (R. p. 137; p. 143, line 7.) Rumph testified that his bedroom light and TV were on. (R. p. 148, lines 15-17.) When Rumph did not immediately give the man money, the man cut Rumph with a knife. (R. p. 138.)

Rumph testified that Wright and the other man eventually came into his bedroom. Rumph recognized the other man as Sean Echols, Vivian’s son. Vivian was a woman whom Rumph “socialized” with. (R. p. 139; p. 145.) Vivian knew that Rumph kept a lot of money in the house, and Rumph had loaned money to Echols in the past. (R. p. 139;

---

<sup>1</sup> In the pre-trial hearing, Wright testified that he drank “about a half a pint.” (R. p. 16, lines 4-7.)

pp. 145-146.) Vivian had called the house twice that evening. (R. p. 151, lines 17-22.) The second time she called, she asked if she could come over. Rumph said no, that he was in bed. (R. p. 155, lines 19-20.) Rumph testified that a little over \$1000 was stolen. (R. p. 153, lines 11-12.) Rumph also testified that his car, a pair of pants, and a hat were taken. (R. p. 140; p. 143.)

Shortly after the men left, the police arrived. Wright said that the man who hit him was “dark skinned” and had dreadlocks. (R. p. 128.) The police showed Wright three or four different photo lineups on three different days. (R. p. 113, line 24 - p. 114, line 1; p. 133, lines 1-7.) Wright was not able to identify anyone in the first lineup. (R. p. 133, line 14 – p. 133, line 7.) After Wright told the police that he thought the man’s name was Ricky, the police created a photo lineup with a photo of Richard Sprinkle. (R. pp. 38-40.) Wright identified Sprinkle as one of the perpetrators. (R. p. 334.) Wright also identified Echols. (R. pp. 113-114; p. 335.)

Rumph, on the other hand, was not able to identify Sprinkle. (R. p. 180, lines 1-8.) He was only able to give a description, which was that the man was “shorter and had dreads and dark skin.” *Id.* Rumph identified Echols, however. (R. p. 142; p. 336.)

Sprinkle was arrested on June 29, 2011, three days after the crime. In January 2013, Sprinkle met with the police and told them that he was present at the scene of the crime, but that when he saw Echols assaulting someone, he got scared and ran out of the house. (R. p. 187; p. 190; p. 193; p. 197.) He said that he was on drugs and that is why he went to the house. (R. p. 190, lines 21-23.) He never said that he had a weapon and he never said that he hit anyone. (R. p. 194, lines 1-4.) He also testified that Echols’s mom, Vivian was there. (R. p. 197, lines 18-21.) He said that he was afraid of Echols.

(R. p. 192, lines 23-25.) Echols had been threatening him and he wanted to be moved from Orangeburg Detention Center. (R. p. 197, line 24 – p. 198, line 4.)

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, appellate courts review errors of law only and are bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” *State v. Senter*, 396 S.C. 547, 551, 722 S.E.2d 233, 235 (Ct. App. 2011).

### ARGUMENT

#### **I. The trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress the identification of Richard Sprinkle.**

The trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress the identification of Richard Sprinkle because the testimony presented by Wright was unreliable and the lineup was unduly suggestive because Sprinkle appears in prison garb.

“An in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.” *State v. Cheeseboro*, 345 S.C. 526, 540, 552 S.E.2d 300, 307-08 (2001). “To determine the admissibility of an identification, the court must determine (1) whether the identification process was unduly suggestive and (2) if so, whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.” *Id.* at 540, 552 S.E.2d at 308. In evaluating the likelihood of misidentification, courts consider the following factors: “the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness’ degree of attention, the accuracy of the witness’ prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation.” *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200 (1972).

In the case at hand, the identification of Sprinkle was unreliable. Wright testified that he was immediately hit over the head when the men came into the house and that it was dark inside and he never turned the lights on. He further testified that he had been drinking that night.<sup>2</sup>

Further, the description Wright gave the police did not match a description of Sprinkle. Wright initially told the police that the person who assaulted him was a dark-skinned black man with shoulder length dreadlocks. But he later identified Sprinkle as the perpetrator. Wright admitted that Sprinkle “changed a little bit” since the night of the crime. (R. p. 14, lines 1-4.) He said, “He ain’t quite as black in the face.” *Id.* He also said his hair is shorter and his skin’s a little cleaner that it was then. It was more darker.” (R. p. 26, line 22 – p. 27, line 3.)

Additionally, Wright did not identify Sprinkle in a photo lineup until after Wright gave the police Sprinkle’s name. Wright did not give the police Sprinkle’s name during the initial interview. (R. p. 39, lines 12-15.) Wright was shown a total of four different lineups on three different days. (R. p. 24, line 17 – p. 25, line 2.) He said he was shown the first one the day after the crime, but was not able to identify anyone. *Id.* He was shown additional lineups the next day, and again, no identification. *Id.* It was not until after Wright told the police that someone named “Ricky” was involved that the police produced a lineup with Sprinkle’s photo. (R. p. 39, line 24 – p. 40, line 7.) Wright said that the police handed him the lineup and said, “The suspect’s on here, see if you can pick him.” (R. p. 25, lines 17-19.) Wright circled the photo of Sprinkle

---

<sup>2</sup> The jury ended up not believing Wright’s testimony that Sprinkle was the one who hit him. The jury found Sprinkle not guilty as to assault and battery of Wright. (R. pp. 331-333.)

even though it did not match the description he gave the police. If Wright knew who the perpetrator was, then there should not have been a need to create a lineup. The creation of a lineup that contained a photo of a suspect who matched the name given to the police but not the description was unduly suggestive and created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.

More importantly, Rumph never identified Sprinkle, even though he was in the best position to do so. Rumph described the person who came into his bedroom as “a black guy with long dreads on his hair.” (R. p. 143, lines 3-7.) Rumph said that the TV and light were on in his bedroom. Rumph testified that eventually the other perpetrator, whom both Wright and Rumph identified as Sean Echols, came into the room. (R. p. 157.) Rumph had a much better opportunity to observe the men than Wright did. His room was lit, he had not been immediately hit over the head, and there was no testimony presented that he had been drinking that night. Wright testified that the robbery lasted approximately 25 minutes, which gave Rumph plenty of time to view the perpetrators. (R. p. 23, lines 16-21.) Rumph never identified Sprinkle in any of the lineups he was shown.

Finally, the lineup itself is unduly suggestive because Sprinkle appears in prison garb. (R. p. 334.) The other men are wearing t-shirts and tank tops. Sprinkle is the only one who appears in a gray, scrub-like shirt that is worn in prison.

Given these circumstances, there is a substantial likelihood that a misidentification has occurred. The in-court identification made by Wright and the photo lineup should have been excluded.

**II. The trial court erred in limiting the cross-examination of Sean Echols, who testified on behalf of the State.**

The trial court erred in limiting defense counsel's cross-examination of Sean Echols, who was one of the perpetrators and a key witness for the State. Echols was the only witness who testified that Sprinkle helped plan the crime. Without Echols's testimony, the jury could not have convicted Sprinkle of burglary, and may not have convicted him of armed robbery and assault and battery.

At trial, defense counsel sought to cross-examine Echols regarding (1) several prior convictions, (2) Echols's sentence for the conduct in this case, (3) a plea deal that Echols was offered, and (4) pending charges related to a federal investigation of a shooting of a corrections officer. The State moved to exclude cross-examination on these subjects. (R. pp. 54-57; pp. 215-216; pp. 234-241.) Although the trial court allowed the defense to cross-examine Echols about his prior convictions and the maximum sentence he faced the conduct in this case, the trial court refused to allow the defense to cross-examine Echols regarding the federal charges and any plea deal offered by the State. (R. pp. 87-88; pp. 240-42.)

**A. The federal charges**

Prior to trial, the State made a motion to limit the cross-examination of Echols regarding federal charges pending against him. (R. pp. 54-57). The defense opposed the motion, arguing that cross-examination should be permitted to impeach the witness. *Id.* The trial court granted the State's motion. (R. pp. 86-89). The trial court ruled that the examination was prohibited because it violated Echols's Fifth Amendment right to refuse to offer incriminating testimony. *Id.* The trial court relied on *State v. Hughes*, 328 S.C. 146, 493 S.E.2d 821 (1997), for the proposition that the defense should not be allowed to call a witness whom it knows will invoke the Fifth Amendment in front of the jury, and

ruled that the attempted murder is not a crime that is probative of truthfulness, and therefore cross-examination was not permitted.<sup>3</sup> *Id.*

At trial, the State called Echols to testify. (R. p. 203, line 17.) At the beginning of the cross-examination, the jury was excused, the State renewed its objection, and the Court sustained the State's objection. (R. pp. 215-17.) This was error.

The Sixth Amendment rights to notice, confrontation, and compulsory process require that a defendant be allowed to answer charges "through the calling and interrogation of favorable witnesses, the cross-examination of adverse witnesses, and the orderly introduction of evidence." *State v. Graham*, 314 S.C. 383, 385, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994).<sup>4</sup> A criminal defendant has the right under the Confrontation Clause to cross-examine a witness against him with regard to bias. *State v. Mizell*, 349 S.C. 326, 331, 563 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2002). A defendant's rights under the Confrontation Clause are violated where he is "prohibited from engaging in otherwise appropriate cross-examination designed to show a prototypical form of bias on the part of the witness, and thereby 'to expose to the jury the facts from which jurors [] could appropriately draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness.'" *Id.* at 331, 563 S.E.2d at 317 (quoting *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 680 (1986)). "The trial judge retains discretion to impose reasonable limits on the scope of cross-examination." *Mizell*, 349 S.C. at 331, 563 S.E.2d at 317. "Before a trial judge may limit a criminal defendant's

---

<sup>3</sup> Although not specifically mentioned by the court, the basis for this part of its ruling appears to be Rule 609, SCRE.

<sup>4</sup> These Sixth Amendment protections are extended to state defendants through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *E.g., Duncan v. State of La.*, 391 U.S. 145, 148 (1968).

right to engage in cross-examination to show bias on the part of the witness, the record must clearly show the cross-examination is inappropriate.” *Id.*

The trial court’s reliance on the Fifth Amendment and *Hughes* was error, and violated Sprinkle’s rights under the Confrontation Clause. Echols should not have been allowed to invoke his Fifth Amendment right not to testify when he was simply asked whether he had “been charged in a federal case involving the shooting of a corrections officer.” (R. p. 215, lines 18-20.) “It is . . . black-letter law that a witness cannot assert a Fifth Amendment privilege not to testify if the testimony sought cannot possibly be used as a basis for, or in aid of, a criminal prosecution against the witness.” *Pillsbury Co. v. Conboy*, 459 U.S. 248, 273 (Blackmun, J. concurring). Here, the question posed sought merely a factual answer regarding whether the witness had been charged with a crime. The question was not intended to elicit incriminating testimony. Accordingly, defense counsel was entitled to question Echols regarding the existence of these charges.

The trial court’s reliance on *Hughes* and Rule 608(b)(1), SCRE, is misplaced. In *Hughes*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a defense counsel may not put a defendant “on the stand *solely* to allow the jury to draw adverse inferences from his refusal to testify.” 328 S.C. at 152-53, 493 S.E.2d at 824 (emphasis in original). In this case, Echols was not being put on the stand solely to allow the jury to draw an inference regarding his refusal to testify. The purpose of the examination was to demonstrate that Echols had additional charges pending against him, which may influence his testimony against Sprinkle. Cross-examination to elicit such bias is permissible under the Sixth Amendment and state law.

Similarly, Rule 609, SCRE, does not apply. Rule 609 applies to the use of past convictions to impeach a witness. But the testimony in question did not relate to Echols's prior convictions. It concerned pending charges.

The purpose of the cross-examination was to demonstrate the potential for bias by Echols, a purpose which is allowable under Rule 608(c), SCRE, and *Mizell*. The mere fact that a witness has "neither agreed to a plea bargain nor pled guilty" does not allow a court to exclude such testimony. *Mizell*, 349 S.C. at 332, 563 S.E.2d at 318.

Accordingly, the trial judge erred in prohibiting cross-examination on the federal charges.

**B. Plea discussions with the State**

The trial court also erred in prohibiting the defense from cross examining Echols about his plea discussions with the State. Defense counsel sought to question Echols about whether "he [was] given an offer of a cap of 20 years. And obviously that goes along with the same issue of, he could be facing life, he was offered 20 and he's looking for ten [years]." (R. p. 237, lines 17-20.) Although the basis for the trial court's ruling is not entirely clear on the record, it appears to be based on Rule 410, SCRE.<sup>5</sup>

Rule 410, SCRE, reads:

Except as otherwise provided in this rule, evidence of the following is not, in any civil or criminal proceeding, admissible *against the defendant* who made the plea or was a participant in the plea discussions:

---

<sup>5</sup> The trial court ruled that "[w]ith regards to Mr. Echols asking, you know, for ten years or asking for a cap of 20 years, whether or not that was given or not, all of that is part of plea negotiations and we're not going to get into that." (R. p. 240 line 24 – p. 241 line 2). This was in response to the State's argument that their objection to the proffered cross-examination was that that no plea had been reached as a result of Echols' discussions with the State. The State referred the court to Rule 410, SCRE, which is "specifically discussing plea negotiations." (R. p. 239, line 5.)

. . . (4) any statement made in the course of plea discussions with an attorney for the prosecuting authority which do not result in a plea of guilty or which result in a plea of guilty later withdrawn.

(emphasis added). The language in the rule suggests that the rule applies only in a civil or criminal proceeding “against the defendant.”

Although state courts have not addressed what it means for the rule to apply “against the defendant,” at least one federal court has. In *United States v. Mathis*, the Fourth Circuit stated that it “see[s] no error in the use of a statement of a witness made when he pleaded guilty to impeach his testimony in this trial [of another individual].”<sup>6</sup> 550 F.2d 180, 182 (4th Cir. 1976). The Court went on to hold that “Federal Rule of Evidence 410 . . . only prohibit[s] statements made in conjunction with a guilty plea from being used . . . against the person who made the plea.” *Id.* Thus, there is no protection under Rule 410 where the statements sought to be introduced are only to be “used collaterally for the purposes of impeachment.” *Id.* See also Wright, Miller, et al., 23 Fed. Prac. & Proc. Evid. § 5349 (1st ed.) (“Presumably the use of the statement [from plea negotiations] to impeach the defendant when he testifies in some case in which he is not a party would be permissible. Moreover, in some cases the invocation of the rule by the prosecutor to prevent the defendant from using a plea-related statement for impeachment purposes might run afoul of the Confrontation Clause.”).

Here, the plea negotiations between Echols and the State should have been revealed to the jury as evidence of Echols’s bias. Echols’s testimony was not being

---

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