ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000784

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

RICHARD LANARD SPRINKLE,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1525
Orangeburg, SC 29116
(864) 942-8802

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 18 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY

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

Appellant argues the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress Wright's in-court identification testimony because that testimony was unreliable and was based on an unduly suggestive out-of-court photo line-up. This argument is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant failed to object to the identification evidence when it was offered at trial. Even if preserved, there was ample evidence supporting the circuit court's findings that: (1) the out-of-court photo lineup identification did not result from unduly suggestive police procedures; and (2) under the totality of the circumstances the out-of-court identification was so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Furthermore, any error in the admission of Wright's identification testimony was harmless given the cumulative nature of that evidence and the other overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. For all of these reasons, Appellant's challenge to the identification testimony should be denied and his convictions should be affirmed.

Issue Preservation

Generally, a motion in limine seeks a pretrial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial evidence to the jury, and a ruling on such a motion is preliminary and subject to change based on developments during trial. State v. Smith,

337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999). A ruling on a motion in limine does not constitute a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). Therefore, an objection must be made at the time the evidence is introduced during trial in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993); State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 646, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012); State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 609, 486 S.E.2d 762, 764 (Ct. App. 1997). “However, where a judge makes a ruling on the admission of evidence on the record immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question, the aggrieved party does not need to renew the objection.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001). Additionally, if the trial court clearly indicates its ruling is final rather than preliminary, the issue is preserved for appellate review. State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 157, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009); Atieh, 397 S.C. at 647, 725 S.E.2d at 733.

In the instant case, Appellant failed to preserve any challenge to the identification evidence for appellate review. Before the jury was sworn, the trial court held a Neil v. Biggers hearing regarding the reliability of Wright’s out-of-court identification of Appellant and the admissibility of the eyewitness identification testimony the State was considering offering at trial. The trial judge issued a preliminary ruling finding the identification process was not unduly suggestive and that the identification itself was reliable. Following a pretrial Jackson v. Denno hearing, a preliminary jury charge, and opening statements, the State called Wright to the stand to tell the jury about the assault, robbery and burglary. During Wright’s testimony, the State sought to elicit the identification evidence addressed in the trial court’s pretrial ruling. Wright proceeded to

make three separate in-court identifications of Appellant. Appellant did not object or otherwise attempt to renew any pretrial challenge to Wright's identification testimony. Appellant also did not object to testimony from Wright and Investigator Garrison describing the out-of-court identification procedure, and he failed to object with the photo lineup was introduced into evidence by the State.

Because Appellant did not make a contemporaneous objection to any identification evidence elicited during trial in the jury's presence, he failed to preserve any issue related to the trial court's pretrial rulings on the identifications by Wright. See State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 126, n.1, 644 S.E.2d 693, 696 (2007) (finding the issue regarding an in-court identification was not preserved when the appellant objected pre-trial to a suggestive identification procedure and again during trial to the procedure but never objected to the subsequent in-court identification). Therefore, this issue is not preserved for further review. To the extent this Court finds the identification issue was properly preserved, the State submits it is nevertheless without merit.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). The admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 166, 682 S.E.2d 19, 30 (Ct. App. 2009). Accordingly, a circuit court's decision to allow the in-court identification of an accused will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or prejudicial legal error. Id.; State v. Govan, 373 S.C. 552, 556, 643 S.E.2d 92, 94 (Ct.

App. 2007). “To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof.” State v. Singleton, 395 S.C. 6, 13-14, 716 S.E.2d 332, 335-36 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005)).

Discussion / Analysis

An out-of-court identification of the defendant violates due process and must be suppressed when the identification procedure used by police was impermissibly suggestive and conducive to a substantial likelihood of misidentification. State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 138, 727 S.E.2d 422, 425 (2012); State v. Dukes, 404 S.C. 553, 557-58, 745 S.E.2d 137, 139 (Ct. App. 2013). A witness's subsequent in-court identification is inadmissible “if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of *irreparable* misidentification.” State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004) (emphasis added). Trial courts employ a two-pronged inquiry to determine whether due process requires suppression of an out-of-court eyewitness identification. Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426. First, the court must determine whether the identification resulted from “unnecessarily suggestive” police procedures. Biggers, 409 U.S. at 198-99; Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426; Traylor, 360 S.C. at 81, 600 S.E.2d at 526. If the court finds the identification did not result from impermissibly suggestive police procedures, the inquiry ends there and the court does not need to consider the second prong. State v. Dukes, 404 S.C. 553, 557-58, 745 S.E.2d 137, 139 (Ct. App. 2013). The defendant bears the burden of proving the

identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive. Id. at 561, 745 S.E.2d at 141 (“Our supreme court has never placed the burden of disproving suggestiveness on the State. The Fourth Circuit, whose decisions regarding federal constitutional law are binding on us, has held the defendant bears the burden of proving the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive.”).

If the court finds, however, that the police used an impermissibly suggestive identification procedure, it must then determine whether the identification was nevertheless “so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.” Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426. The inquiry must focus upon whether, under the totality of the circumstances, there was a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 127, 644 S.E.2d 693, 696 (2007); Singleton, 395 S.C. at 13-14, 716 S.E.2d at 335-36. When determining the likelihood of misidentification, courts must evaluate the totality of the circumstances using the following factors: (1) the witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the witness's degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Turner, 373 S.C. at 127, 644 S.E.2d at 697; Singleton, 395 S.C. at 13-14, 716 S.E.2d at 335-36.

In the instant case, Wright testified the police officer who presented the photo lineup did not tell him which photo to pick. Investigator Garrison confirmed this account, testifying she did not suggest to Wright whom he should pick out of the photo array, instead simply asking if he recognized anybody who assaulted him that night.

Appellant argued the lineup was nevertheless unduly suggestive because he was the only person in a jail uniform. He claimed it was obvious the shirt he was wearing was a jail shirt. The trial judge disagreed and found the photo lineup was not unduly suggestive at all. The trial judge observed how strikingly similar the six individuals appeared the photographs, all having the same skin tone and length of hair, and nearly identical facial hair. He praised the “spectacular job” the police did putting the photo array together. (R.p.49, line 22-p.49, line 15). The photo lineup itself supports the trial court’s observations. It also demonstrates the fallacy of Appellant’s claim regarding the shirt he was wearing in the photograph. It is simply a solid colored, “v-neck” shirt with no lettering or other identifying information indicating it is part of a jail uniform. (R.p. 334). Appellant failed to carry his burden of proving the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive.

On appeal, Appellant also argues Wright’s prior personal knowledge of Appellant led the police to create a suggestive lineup. He contends: “The creation of a lineup that contained a photo of a suspect who matched the name given to the police but not the description was unduly suggestive and created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.” (Brief of Appellant, p.5-p.6). However, this Court has specifically found the opposite to be true. See Singleton, 395 S.C. at 14, 716 S.E.2d at 336 (concluding the identification process was not unduly suggestive because the victim had prior personal knowledge of the defendant). Thus, this argument is without merit.

The State submits that since there was evidence to support the trial court’s decision, that court did not abuse its discretion in ruling the procedure was not impermissibly suggestive. Dukes, 404 S.C. at 563, 745 S.E.2d at 142. Consequently,

this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling and need not consider the trial court's determination of the second prong of Biggers. Id. To the extent this Court disagrees, the State submits there was also sufficient evidence to support the trial court's ruling that the out-of-court identification was reliable under the totality of the circumstances.

At the pretrial hearing, Wright described the two robbers as black men, one of whom had long hair. This description was consistent with the photograph of Appellant the police used in the photo lineup. Wright testified he knew the robber with the long hair as "Ricky" and explained he had actually talked to Ricky on the Saturday evening before the early Sunday morning robbery. He testified that when presented with the lineup, he knew right away which one was Ricky. (R.p.5, line 21-p.14, line 11). On cross-examination Wright noted that when he first answered the door he "looked right in the face" of Appellant. (R.p.14, line 18-p.28, line 15). Investigator Garrison testified she showed the lineup to Wright the day after the incident and Wright showed no hesitation in picking the picture of Appellant. (R.p.28, line 22-p.31, line 13).

Appellant argued the identification made by Wright was not reliable because Wright did not have a good opportunity to witness the intruders on the night of the incident. (R.p.41, line 5-p.45, line 19). The trial judge disagreed and ruled as follows:

I've listened to the testimony of the victim, Mr. Wright, and Ms. Garrison. I do not believe that the identification process was unduly suggestive, nor was there any substantial likelihood of misidentification because he had given a general description of the Defendant, indicated that he knew where he lived and then picked him out of this photo lineup. So I find it to be reliable.

(R.p.48, line 22-p.49, line 15).

The evidence supports this finding. Wright had an excellent opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime because he looked right in Appellant's face before

opening the door. His attention was heightened because he was answering a strange knock on the door in the middle of the night. Wright gave a relatively accurate description of the perpetrator and was then certain he had made a correct identification from the photo lineup. Finally, the lineup was presented only one day after the crime. Further, a review of Wright's trial testimony indicates that his in-court identification of Appellant originated not from any taint associated with the allegedly suggestive photo lineup, but from Wright's prior association with Appellant and his observation of Appellant at the time robbery. Thus, the in-court identification was nonetheless properly admitted as it had an independent origin. Liverman, 398 S.C. at 142, 727 S.E.2d at 428. Under the totality of the circumstances, the victim's pre-trial and in-court identifications were reliable. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the identification testimony, and Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

Harmless Error

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 55, 625 S.E.2d at 223. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). An admission of improper evidence is considered harmless when it is merely cumulative to other properly admitted evidence. State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v.

Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003). “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

Here, the State submits any error in the admission of the identification evidence from Wright was harmless, merely cumulative to other evidence, and not prejudicial. The identification by Wright placed Appellant at the scene of the crime and showed he was an active participant, evidence which was cumulative to and corroborated by the detailed testimony from Echols. See State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 83, 417 S.E.2d 92, 94 (1992) (“We note that, under certain circumstances, if the identification is corroborated by either circumstantial or direct evidence, then the harmless error rule might be applicable.”). Furthermore, Appellant admitted in his own statement to law enforcement he was present at the scene of the crime and he conceded his presence in his closing argument to the jury. (R.p.286, line 18-p.287, line 6). See State v. Kirkpatrick, 320 S.C. 38, 43, 462 S.E.2d 884, 888 (Ct. App. 1995) (“The erroneous admission of the key evidence was harmless inasmuch as Kirkpatrick admitted he rented the U-Haul in question and bought a lock, with two keys, to put on it. Thus, the evidence of the key linking Kirkpatrick to the U-Haul was merely cumulative.”). Because the challenged identification evidence was cumulative to other properly-admitted evidence, any error in the admission of that identification evidence was completely harmless and could not have affected the result at trial. See Singleton, 395 S.C. at 14-15, 716 S.E.2d at 336 (finding harmless error in the admission of identification testimony where two co-conspirators testified against Singleton and identified him as a participant in the robbery).

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